

IQWiG Reports - Commission No. A21-120

Vericiguat (cardiac failure) –

Benefit assessment according to §35a Social Code Book V<sup>1</sup>

Extract

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Translation of Sections 2.1 to 2.5 of the dossier assessment *Vericiguat (Herzinsuffizienz) – Nutzenbewertung gemäß § 35a SGB V* (Version 1.0; Status: 13 December 2021). Please note: This document was translated by an external translator and is provided as a service by IQWiG to English-language readers. However, solely the German original text is absolutely authoritative and legally binding.

# Publishing details

# Publisher

Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care

### Topic

Vericiguat (cardiac failure) - Benefit assessment according to §35a Social Code Book V

**Commissioning agency** Federal Joint Committee

**Commission awarded on** 15 September 2021

**Internal Commission No.** A21-120

### Address of publisher

Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen Im Mediapark 8 50670 Köln Germany

Phone: +49 221 35685-0 Fax: +49 221 35685-1 E-mail: <u>berichte@iqwig.de</u> Internet: <u>www.iqwig.de</u>

### Medical and scientific advice

Torsten Christ

IQWiG thanks the medical and scientific advisor for his contribution to the dossier assessment. However, the advisor was not involved in the actual preparation of the dossier assessment. The responsibility for the contents of the dossier assessment lies solely with IQWiG.

# Patient and family involvement

No feedback was received in the framework of the present dossier assessment.

### IQWiG employees involved in the dossier assessment

- Jana Göbel
- Tatjana Hermanns
- Jona Lilienthal
- Prateek Mishra
- Min Ripoll
- Sonja Schiller
- Ulrike Seay
- Volker Vervölgyi

Keywords: Vericiguat, Heart Failure, Benefit Assessment, NCT02861534

Vericiguat (cardiac failure)

# Table of contents

### Page

List of 1	tables	iv
List of a	abbreviations	. v
2 Ben	nefit assessment	.1
2.1	Executive summary of the benefit assessment	.1
2.2	Research question	.8
2.3	Information retrieval and study pool	.8
2.3	3.1 Studies included	.9
2.3	3.2 Study characteristics	.9
2.4	Results on added benefit	19
2.4	1.1 Outcomes included	19
2.4	.2 Risk of bias	22
2.4	1.3 Results	23
2.4	.4 Subgroups and other effect modifiers	28
2.5	Probability and extent of added benefit	29
2.5	Assessment of the added benefit at outcome level	30
2.5	5.2 Overall conclusion on added benefit	32
Referer	nces for English extract	35

# List of tables<sup>2</sup>

Page
Table 2: Research question of the benefit assessment of vericiguat
Table 3: Vericiguat – probability and extent of added benefit7
Table 4: Research question of the benefit assessment of vericiguat      8
Table 5: Study pool – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy         vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy         9
Table 6: Characteristics of the study included – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 7: Characteristics of the intervention – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 8: Characteristics of the study population – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 9: Data on HF therapies – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standardtherapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 10: Data on the course of the study – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 11: Risk of bias across outcomes (study level) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy19
Table 12: Matrix of outcomes – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 13: Risk of bias at study level and outcome-specific risk of bias – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 14: Results (mortality, morbidity, time to event) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy24
Table 15: Results (morbidity, health-related quality of life, and side effects, dichotomous) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 16: Subgroups (morbidity) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized         standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 17: Extent of added benefit at outcome level: dapagliflozin + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
Table 18: Favourable and unfavourable effects from the assessment of vericiguat +optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy
Table 19: Vericiguat – probability and extent of added benefit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Table numbers start with "2" as numbering follows that of the full dossier assessment.

# List of abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
ACT	appropriate comparator therapy
AE	adverse event
ARB	angiotensin receptor blockers
ARNI	angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitors
BNP	brain natriuretic peptide
EPAR	European Public Assessment Report
EQ-5D	European Quality of Life – 5 Dimensions
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
G-BA	Gemeinsamer Bundesausschuss (Federal Joint Committee)
HbA1c	glycated haemoglobin
HF	heart failure
ICD	Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator
IQWiG	Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care)
IV	intravenous
KCCQ	Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire
LOCF	last observation carried forward
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
MI	myocardial infarction
MRA	mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists
NT proBNP	N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide
NYHA	New York Heart Association
OSS	overall summary score
PT	preferred term
RCT	randomized controlled trial
SAE	serious adverse event
SGB	Sozialgesetzbuch (Social Code Book)
SGLT-2	sodium dependent glucose transporter 2
SPC	Summary of Product Characteristics
VAS	visual analogue scale

### 2 Benefit assessment

### 2.1 Executive summary of the benefit assessment

### Background

In accordance with § 35a Social Code Book (SGB) V, the Federal Joint Committee (G-BA) commissioned the Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG) to assess the benefit of the drug vericiguat. The assessment is based on a dossier compiled by the pharmaceutical company (hereinafter referred to as the "company"). The dossier was sent to IQWiG on 15 September 2021.

### **Research** question

The aim of the present report was to assess the added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with optimized standard therapy as the appropriate comparator therapy (ACT) for the treatment of symptomatic chronic heart failure (HF) in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring intravenous (IV) therapy.

The research question presented in Table 2 results from the ACT specified by the G-BA.

Therapeutic indication	ACT <sup>a</sup>			
Symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy	Optimized standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF and underlying medical conditions, e.g. hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, coronary heart disease, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolaemia, and concomitant symptoms <sup>b</sup>			
<ul> <li>a. Presentation of the respective ACT specified by the G-BA.</li> <li>b. The patients in both study arms are assumed to have received optimal treatment: guideline-compliant individualized treatment of HF and underlying medical conditions or risk factors such as hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, or diabetes mellitus as well as the concomitant symptoms, e.g. oedema. It should have been possible to adapt the baseline/concomitant medication to the patient's individual needs in both study arms.</li> <li>Unchanged continuation of an inadequate therapy does not concur with the ACT. If there was no further possibility for optimization, it had to be documented and explained that any other existing treatment option were unsuitable or had been exhausted.</li> </ul>				
ACT: appropriate comparator therapy; G-BA: Federal Joint Committee; HF: heart failure; IV: intravenous				

Table 2: Research question of the benefit assessment of vericiguat

The company followed the G-BA's specification on the ACT.

The assessment was conducted by means of patient-relevant outcomes on the basis of the data provided by the company in the dossier. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with a minimum duration of 24 weeks were used for the derivation of added benefit.

### Results

The VICTORIA study was used to assess the added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with optimized standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in patients with

reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy.

# Study design

The VICTORIA study is a placebo-controlled double-blind, randomized parallel-group study on vericiguat. It included patients with chronic HF of New York Heart Association (NYHA) class II through IV whose left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was < 45%. In addition, patients had to exhibit both increased N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT proBNP) or brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) levels and a decompensation event. In the VICTORIA study, this was operationalized as previous hospitalization for HF within 6 months and/or IV diuretic treatment for HF (without hospitalization) within 3 months prior to treatment start.

Patients were to receive adequate drug therapy for HF in accordance with the locally relevant guidelines, at the investigator's discretion, and as tolerated. Therapy was to be individualized, consisting of a combination of the drug classes of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), beta-blockers, oral diuretics, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA), and angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitors (ARNI). Patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators (ICD) or biventricular pacemakers were eligible for inclusion.

Overall, 5050 patients were included in the study and randomly allocated in a 1:1 ratio either to treatment with vericiguat (N = 2526) or to placebo (N = 2524).

With regard to the therapeutic indication of vericiguat, the study's inclusion criteria may diverge from the Summary of Product Characteristics (SPC). Vericiguat is approved for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy. IV therapy was not an explicit inclusion criterion for patients hospitalized due to a decompensation event. However, it is generally safe to assume that patients hospitalized for HF receive IV therapy. The study addressed the requirement of patients having been stabilized after the decompensation event by specifying that the IV therapy had to have been completed for more than 24 hours. A time period of 24 hours seems too short to ensure that patients are stabilized. According to the European Public Assessment Report (EPAR), the company conceded in the approval procedure that not all patients had been clinically stable. Based on the available data, it is impossible to determine to how many patients this applied.

Aside from this issue, the dosage and application of vericiguat was in accordance with the SPC.

The study's primary outcome was the composite outcome of cardiovascular death and hospitalization for HF. Patient-relevant secondary outcomes were all-cause mortality, outcomes of the morbidity and health-related quality of life categories, and adverse events (AEs).

The approval of vericiguat comprises patients with symptomatic chronic HF with reduced LVEF. According to the National Disease Management Guideline, this is defined as LVEF < 40%. The VICTORIA study included patients with LVEF < 45%. The company's dossier presents the results of a subpopulation with LVEF < 40% at baseline (N = 2158 per study arm). This subpopulation is relevant for the benefit assessment and was used.

### Implementation of the ACT

The VICTORIA study's implementation of the ACT is subject to some limitations. The main limitation is that, for a majority of patients, not all therapeutic options might have been exhausted or available.

In the VICTORIA study, all patients were to receive individualized therapy in accordance with locally applicable guidelines (e.g. the European Society of Cardiology [ESC] guideline). Modifications of HF therapy were possible at any time before and during the study. Regarding the treatment of underlying medical conditions or risk factors, neither recommendations nor limitations had been specified. The information available in the dossier does not clarify to what extent this resulted in optimal patient treatment. Data are missing on modifications made for the treatment of the underlying medical conditions.

In the study, optimization of standard HF therapy was not ensured for all patients. The data show that in about 40% of patients from either study arm, the dose of one of the drugs was increased or treatment with a drug from a new class was initiated. However, the company did not submit any information about the type of modification, e.g. the drug classes to which patients switched or the reasons for performing or foregoing treatment modifications during the study.

Furthermore, it is notable that a relatively high percentage of patients (about 60%) did not receive any treatment modifications over the course of the study.

# Implementation of the recommendations for treatment modifications in case of persistent symptoms

According to the National Disease Management Guideline as well as the recently updated ESC guideline, patients with symptomatic HF and reduced ejection fraction should be treated with a combination of an ACE inhibitor or ARB, a beta-blocker, and an MRA. For patients who continue to be symptomatic despite guideline-compliant therapy, the National Disease Management Guideline, version 3 recommends a switch from ACE inhibitors / ARBs to the ARNI sacubitril/valsartan or add-on therapy with a sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT-2) inhibitor.

Although patients in the VICTORIA study exhibited classII through IV HF and had experienced a recent decompensation event, at 15%, only a small percentage of them received sacubitril/valsartan at baseline. By the later treatment phase (Weeks 113 through 128), the percentage of patients on sacubitril/valsartan rose to 19% in the intervention arm and 22% in

the comparator arm. Reasons for not treating with sacubitril/valsartan at baseline include the treatment not being indicated according to the treatment guidelines (20%) and treatment being unavailable (19%). This demonstrates that not all recommended treatment options were available to all patients.

SGLT-2 inhibitors, which are likewise recommended by guidelines for the VICTORIA patient population, were not available, neither at study start nor over the course of the study, except for patients who were treated with dapagliflozin (0.9%) or empagliflozin (3.5%) as part of their diabetes therapy.

In summary, the treatment options in the VICTORIA study do not fully represent the German standard of care, and the ACT was implemented only to a limited extent. Despite these limitations, the VICTORIA study was used for the benefit assessment.

# Risk of bias

The study-level risk of bias for the VICTORIA study was rated as low. The risk of bias on the outcome level is deemed low, except for the following outcomes: health status (surveyed using visual analogue scale [VAS] of European Quality of Life – 5 Dimensions [EQ-5D]), health-related quality of life (surveyed using the overall summary score [OSS] of the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire [KCCQ]), serious adverse events (SAEs), hypotension (SAEs), and further specific AEs.

# Assessment of the certainty of conclusions

Various aspects limit the certainty of conclusions of the present VICTORIA study for the benefit assessment.

Firstly, the percentage of patients who had not been clinically stabilized at baseline is unclear. Secondly, it is safe to assume in the present benefit assessment that the VICTORIA study implemented the ACT of optimized standard therapy for HF only to a limited extent. This was concluded, firstly, because relevant therapy options such as sacubitril/valsartan or SGLT-2 inhibitors were available only to a limited extent or not at all. Secondly, it is notable that relatively few patients received a modification of their pharmacological HF therapy during the study.

Particularly due to these limitations, overall, at most hints, e.g. of an added benefit, can be determined for all outcomes. In addition, it is unclear to what extent the potentially insufficient percentage of patients who switched to sacubitril/valsartan therapy or the lack of administration of SGLT-2 inhibitors impacted the effects on patient-relevant outcomes in the VICTORIA study. Therefore, the effects on the individual outcomes cannot be quantified.

# Results

# Mortality

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of all-cause mortality. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Morbidity

# Hospitalization for HF

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups in favour of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of hospitalization for HF. However, there was a statistically significant interaction for the attribute of age. This resulted in a hint of an added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy for patients < 75 years of age. For patients  $\geq$  75 years of age, there is no hint of an added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven for this patient group.

# Myocardial infarction (MI)

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of MI. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

### <u>Stroke</u>

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of stroke. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

### Health status

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of health status, surveyed with the EQ-5D VAS. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Health-related quality of life

For the outcome of health-related quality of life as measured using KCCQ-OSS, no statistically significant difference between treatment groups was found. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

### Side effects

# <u>SAEs</u>

No statistically significant difference between treatment groups was shown for the outcome of SAEs. This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Discontinuation due to AEs

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of discontinuation due to AEs. This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Hypotension (SAEs)

No statistically significant difference between treatment groups was shown for the outcome of hypotension (SAEs). This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Blood and lymphatic system disorders (SAEs)

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups to the disadvantage of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of disorders of the blood and lymphatic system (SAEs). This resulted in a hint of greater harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy.

### Atrial fibrillation (SAEs)

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups in favour of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of atrial fibrillation (SAEs). This results in a hint of lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy.

# Probability and extent of added benefit, patient groups with therapeutically important added benefit<sup>3</sup>

Overall, a hint of non-quantifiable added benefit of vericiguat in the outcome category of serious/severe symptoms / late complications was found only for patients < 75 years of age. In the outcome category of serious/severe side effects, both a favourable and an unfavourable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On the basis of the scientific data analysed, IQWiG draws conclusions on the (added) benefit or harm of an intervention for each patient-relevant outcome. Depending on the number of studies analysed, the certainty of their results, and the direction and statistical significance of treatment effects, conclusions on the probability of (added) benefit or harm are graded into 4 categories: (1) "proof", (2) "indication", (3) "hint", or (4) none of the first 3 categories applies (i.e., no data available or conclusions 1 to 3 cannot be drawn from the available data). The extent of added benefit or harm is graded into 3 categories: (1) major, (2) considerable, (3) minor (in addition, 3 further categories may apply: non-quantifiable extent of added benefit, added benefit not proven, or less benefit). For further details see [1,2].

effect were found. However, it is questionable whether the favourable effect for the outcome of atrial fibrillation is actually to be allocated to the outcome category of side effects or whether it rather reflects the symptoms of the disease. A clear demarcation is not possible on the basis of the available information.

In summary, for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients < 75 years of age with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy, there is a hint of non-quantifiable added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with optimized standard therapy. For the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients  $\geq$  75 years of age with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy, there is no hint of added benefit of vericiguat; added benefit is therefore not proven.

Table 3 shows a summary of the probability and extent of added benefit of vericiguat.

Therapeutic indication	ACT <sup>a</sup>	Probability and extent of added benefit			
Symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy	Optimized standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF and underlying medical conditions, e.g. hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, coronary heart disease, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolaemia and the concomitant symptoms	<ul> <li>Age &lt; 75 years: hint of a non-quantifiable added benefit.</li> <li>Age ≥ 75 years: added benefit not proven.</li> </ul>			
a. Presented is respective ACT specified by the G-BA.					
ACT: appropriate comparator therapy; G-BA: Federal Joint Committee; HF: heart failure; IV: intravenous					

Table 3: Vericiguat - probability and extent of added benefit

The approach for the derivation of an overall conclusion on the added benefit is a proposal by IQWiG. The G-BA decides on the added benefit.

# 2.2 Research question

The aim of the present report was to assess the added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with optimized standard therapy as the ACT for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy.

The research question presented in Table 4 results from the ACT specified by the G-BA.

Table 4. Research	question	of the	henefit	assessment	of vericionat
Table 4. Research	question	or the	Denem	assessment	of venerguat

Therapeutic indication	ACT <sup>a</sup>			
Symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy	Optimized standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF and underlying medical conditions, e.g. hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, coronary heart disease, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolaemia, and the concomitant symptoms <sup>b</sup>			
a. Presentation of the respective ACT specified by the G-BA. b. The patients in both study arms are assumed to have received optimal treatment: guideline-compliant				

individualized treatment of HF and underlying medical conditions or risk factors such as hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, or diabetes mellitus as well as the concomitant symptoms, e.g. oedema. It should have been possible to adapt the baseline/concomitant medication to the patient's individual needs in both study arms.

Unchanged continuation of an inadequate therapy does not concur with the ACT. If there was no further possibility for optimization, it had to be documented and explained that any other existing treatment options were unsuitable or had been exhausted.

ACT: appropriate comparator therapy; G-BA: Federal Joint Committee; HF: heart failure; IV: intravenous

The company followed the G-BA's specification on the ACT.

The assessment was conducted by means of patient-relevant outcomes on the basis of the data provided by the company in the dossier. RCTs with a minimum duration of 24 weeks were used for the derivation of the added benefit. This concurs with the company's inclusion criteria.

# 2.3 Information retrieval and study pool

The study pool of the assessment was compiled on the basis of the following information:

Sources of the company in the dossier:

- study list on vericiguat (status: 17 June 2021)
- bibliographical literature search on vericiguat (last search on 17 June 2021)
- search in trial registries / trial results databases for studies on vericiguat (last search on 17 June 2021)
- search on the G-BA website for vericiguat (last search on 17 June 2021)

To check the completeness of the study pool:

 search in trial registries for studies on vericiguat (last search on 7 October 2021); for search strategies, see Appendix A of the full dossier assessment

The check did not identify any additional relevant study.

### 2.3.1 Studies included

The study presented in the following table was included in the benefit assessment.

Table 5: Study pool – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study	Study category			Available sources		
	Study for the approval of the drug to	Sponsored study <sup>a</sup>	Third-party study	Clinical study report (CSR)	Registry entries <sup>b</sup>	Publication
	be assessed			(yes/no	(yes/no	(yes/no
	(yes/no)	(yes/no)	(yes/no)	[citation])	[citation])	[citation])
MK-1242-001 (VICTORIA <sup>°</sup> )	Yes	Yes	Yes <sup>d</sup>	Yes [3,4]	Yes [5-7]	Yes [8-13]

a. Study for which the company was the sponsor.

b. Citation of the study registry entries and, if available, of the reports on study design and/or results listed in the study registries.

c. In the following tables, the study is referred to with this abbreviated form.

d. The development programme for vericiguat is managed jointly by Bayer and Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp (MSD). The VICTORIA study was carried out by MSD.

G-BA: Federal Joint Committee; RCT: randomized controlled trial

### 2.3.2 Study characteristics

Table 6 and Table 7 describe the study used for the benefit assessment.

#### Extract of dossier assessment A21-120

Vericiguat (cardiac failure)

Table 6: Characteristics of the study included – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study	Study design	Population	Interventions (number of randomized patients)	Study duration	Location and period of study	Primary outcome; secondary outcomes <sup>a</sup>
VICTORIA	RCT, double- blind, parallel- group	Adult patients with chronic HF <sup>b</sup> NYHA classes II– IV and ejection fraction with LVEF < 45% <sup>c</sup> and decompensation event <sup>d</sup>	Vericiguat (N = 2526) Placebo (N = 2524) Relevant subpopulation (patients with LVEF < 40%): Vericiguat (n = 2158) Placebo (n = 2158)	Screening: Until 30 days before randomization / treatment start Treatment: Event-driven study: primary data cut-off after 782 adjudicated cardiovascular deaths Follow-up observation <sup>e</sup> :	Total of 694 centres in Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, China, Columbia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Hong Kong, Hungary, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Puerto Rico, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, Singapore, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, Turkey, Ukraine, United Kingdom, United States	Primary: composite outcome consisting of cardiovascular death and hospitalization for HF Secondary: all-cause mortality, morbidity, health status, health- related quality of life, AEs
				outcome-specific, 14 days after final visit	09/2016–09/2019 Primary data cut-off: 18 June 2019	
a. Primary o available b. Patients h	utcomes incl outcomes for ad to exhibit	ude information witho or this benefit assessme a prior history of chro ave been measured wit	put consideration of the relevant ent. onic HF under standard therapy. thin 12 months before randomize	ce for this benefit assessm	ent. Secondary outcomes only include	information on relevant

BNP levels had to be measured: in sinus rhythm NT-proBNP  $\geq$  1000 pg/mL or BNP  $\geq$  300 pg/mL; with atrial fibrillation, NT-proBNP  $\geq$  1600 pg/mL or BNP  $\geq$  500 pg/mL. At randomization, the patients had to be clinically stable (IV treatment completed more than 24 hours ago and systolic blood pressure  $\geq$  100 mmHg).

d. The decompensation event was defined as hospitalization for HF within 6 months prior to randomization or HF treatment with IV diuretics (without hospitalization) within 3 months prior to randomization.

e. Outcome-specific information is described in Table 10.

AE: adverse event; BNP: brain natriuretic peptide; HF: heart failure; IV: intravenous; LVEF: left-ventricular ejection fraction; n: relevant subpopulation; N: number of randomized patients; NT-proBNP: N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide; NYHA: New York Heart Association; RCT: randomized controlled trial

Table 7: Characteristics of the intervention - RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized	b
standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy	

Study	Intervention	Comparison					
VICTOPIA	Varieigust once deily, orally	Placebo once daily orally					
VICTORIA	starting dose 2.5 mg, dose doubling every	proper placebo for 2.5 mg, 5 mg, and 10 mg;					
	2 weeks until the maintenance dose of 10 mg	treatment course analogous to vericiguat arm <sup>a</sup>					
	has been reached <sup>a</sup>	+ optimized standard therapy					
	+ optimized standard therapy						
	Dose adjustments						
	<ul> <li>Depending on systolic blood pressure while sit suggesting hypotension</li> </ul>	tting and only in the absence of symptoms					
	• SBP $\geq 100$ mmHg and target value of 10 mg	not yet reached – dose increased					
	• SBP $\geq 100$ mmHg and target value of 10 mg	reached – dose maintained					
	• SBP $\ge$ 90 mmHg and $<$ 100 mg – dose main	tained					
	<ul> <li>SBP &lt; 90 mmHg (asymptomatic) – dose reduced (at 5 mg or 10 mg) or interrupted (at 2.5 mg)</li> </ul>						
	SBP < 90 mmHg (symptomatic) – dose inter	rupted					
	<ul> <li>Reduction of the 5 mg or 10 mg dose was possible at any time if deemed justified for safety reasons</li> </ul>						
	Prior and concomitant treatment						
	• HF treatment should be administered in accordance with locally recognized guidelines (e.g.						
	ACCF/AHA and ESC), at the investigator's discretion, and as tolerated:						
	ACE INHOLORS OF AKBS						
	- Bela-Diockers						
	- AKNIS	alzars					
	<ul> <li>Incraptes with ICD and Diventificular pacemakers</li> <li>Short-acting nitrates (e.g. sublingual nitroglycerin spray for the treatment of anging episodes)</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Short-acting initiates (e.g. sublingual introgrycerin spray for the treatment of angina episodes)</li> <li>Any dose modifications, add-ons, changes in administration route, discontinuations, or terminations of concomitant therapy are possible upon the investigator's discretion</li> </ul>						
	Prohibited prior and concomitant treatment						
	<ul> <li>Other soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators (e.</li> </ul>	g. riociguat)					
	<ul> <li>PDE4 inhibitors (vardenafil tadalafil or sildenafil)</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Long-acting nitrates or NO donors that are longer acting than sublingual nitroglycerin, e.g. isosorbide dinitrate, isosorbide 5-mononitate, pentaerythritol tetranitrate, nicorandil or</li> </ul>						
	transdermal nitroglycerin patch, or molsidomine						
	<ul> <li>Continuous IV administration of an inotrope</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Ventricular assist device or awaiting heart transplantation</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Valvular heart disease, with surgery or intervent</li> </ul>	ntion within $\leq$ 3 months or planned					
a. The study 10 mg ha considere	we medication should be taken with food at approximately the same time each day. If the dose of ad not been reached by the end of the uptitration phase (duration of 4 weeks), uptitration was to be red at each subsequent visit, taking into account systolic blood pressure.						
ACCF: Ame Heart Associ European So antagonist; N systolic bloo	rican College of Cardiology Foundation; ACE: ang ation; ARB: angiotensin receptor blocker; ARNI: ciety of Cardiology; ICD: implantable cardioverte IO: nitrogen monoxide; PDE5: phosphodiesterase- d pressure	giotensin converting enzyme; AHA: American angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor; ESC: r-defibrillator; MRA: mineralocorticoid receptor -5; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SBP:					

The VICTORIA study is a placebo-controlled double-blind, randomized parallel-group study on vericiguat. It included patients with chronic HF of New York Heart Association (NYHA) classes II through IV whose LVEF was < 45%. In addition, patients had to exhibit both increased NT proBNP or BNP levels and a decompensation event. In the VICTORIA study, this was operationalized as previous hospitalization for HF within 6 months and/or IV diuretic treatment for HF (without hospitalization) within 3 months prior to treatment start.

Patients were to receive adequate drug therapy for HF in accordance with the locally relevant guidelines, at the investigator's discretion, and as tolerated. The therapy was to be individualized, consisting of combinations of the drug classes of ACE inhibitors, ARB, betablockers, oral diuretics, MRA, and ARNI. Patients with ICDs or biventricular pacemakers were eligible for inclusion. A detailed discussion of the implementation of the ACT in the course of the study can be found below.

A total of 5050 patients were included in the study and randomly allocated in a 1:1 ratio either to treatment with vericiguat (N = 2526) or to placebo (N = 2524). Randomization was stratified by geographic region (Eastern Europe [plus Israel and South Africa] versus Western Europe versus North America [Black] versus North America [Non-Black] versus Central and South America versus Asia [including Australia]). The percentage of included patients whose qualifying decompensation event was more than 3 months in the past was limited to 20%.

With regard to the therapeutic indication of vericiguat, the study's inclusion criteria may diverge from the SPC [14]. Vericiguat is approved for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy. IV therapy was not an explicit inclusion criterion for patients hospitalized due to a decompensation event. However, it is generally safe to assume that patients hospitalized for HF receive IV therapy. The study addressed the requirement of patients having been stabilized after the decompensation event by specifying that the IV therapy had to have been completed for more than 24 hours. A time period of 24 hours seems too short to ensure that patients are stabilized. According to the EPAR, the company itself conceded in the approval procedure that not all patients were clinically stable [15]. Based on the available data, it is impossible to determine to how many patients this applied. Consequences for the certainty of conclusions of the study are described in Section 2.4.2.

Aside from the above issue, the vericiguat dosage and administration were in line with SPC specifications [14]. In addition, patients in both study arms continued to receive individualized HF therapy after randomization.

The study's primary outcome was the composite outcome of cardiovascular death and hospitalisation for HF. Patient-relevant secondary outcomes were all-cause mortality, outcomes of the morbidity and health-related quality of life categories, and AEs.

The predefined data cut-off of the VICTORIA study was event controlled, to occur after 782 events of cardiovascular death. After the required number of events was reached, patients were invited to a final visit. A final call for another survey of outcomes was made 14 days after the final visit. Patients who discontinued the study medication early had a visit at the time of permanent treatment discontinuation and another one within 14 days after the last dose and were to continue participating in all planned visits until the end of the study as if they had continued treatment.

The approval of vericiguat comprises patients with symptomatic chronic HF with reduced LVEF. According to the National Disease Management Guideline, this corresponds to LVEF < 40% [16]. The VICTORIA study included patients with LVEF < 45%. The company's dossier presents the results of a subpopulation with LVEF < 40% at baseline (N = 2158 per study arm). This subpopulation is relevant for the benefit assessment and was used.

Table 8 shows the characteristics of the patients in the included study.

Study	Vericiguat + optimized	Placebo + optimized
Characteristic	standard therapy	standard therapy
Category	$N^{a} = 2158$	$N^a = 2158$
VICTORIA		
Age [years], mean (SD)	67 (12)	67 (12)
Sex [F/M], %	23/77	23/77
Ancestry, n (%)		
White	1350 (63)	1359 (63)
Asian	500 (23)	475 (22)
Black	111 (5)	118 (5)
Other	196 (9)	206 (10)
Missing	1 (0)	0 (0)
Geographical region, n (%)		
Asia-Pacific	511 (24)	503 (23)
Eastern Europe	722 (33)	718 (33)
Central and South America	316 (15)	324 (15)
North America	243 (11)	244 (11)
Western Europe	366 (17)	369 (17)
Decompensation event, n (%)		
Hospitalization for HF within 3-6 months	390 (18)	365 (17)
Hospitalization for HF within 3 months	1441 (67)	1478 (68)
IV diuretics within 3 months (without hospitalization)	327 (15)	315 (15)
Time since primary diagnosis of HF with reduced ejection fraction [years]		
Median [Q1; Q3]	3.0 [0.8; 7.1]	3.0 [0.9; 7.1]
Mean (SD)	4.8 (5.6)	4.9 (5.4)
LVEF, n (%)		
< 35	1725 (80)	1741 (81)
≥ 35	433 (20)	417 (19)
NT-proBNP level [pg/mL], median [Q1; Q3]	2932.0 [1610.5; 5506.5]	2913.0 [1575.0; 5425.0]
BMI [kg/m <sup>2</sup> ], mean (SD)	27.6 (5.8)	27.8 (6.1)
eGFR [mL/min/1.73 m <sup>3</sup> ], mean (SD)	62.0 (27.2)	62.2 (27.2)
NYHA class, n (%)		
Ι	0 (0)	1 (0)
II	1241 (58)	1270 (59)
III	885 (41)	861 (40)
IV	30 (1)	26 (1)
Missing	2 (0)	0 (0)
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	1051 (49)	985 (46)

Table 8: Characteristics of the study population – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy (multipage table)

Table 8: Characteristics of the study population – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat +	
optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy (multipage table)	

Study Characteristic Category	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy N <sup>a</sup> = 2158	Placebo + optimized standard therapy N <sup>a</sup> = 2158
Treatment discontinuation <sup>b</sup> , n (%)	506 (23)	490 (23)
Study discontinuation <sup>c</sup> , n (%)	17 (1)	18 (1)

a. Number of randomized patients. Values that are based on other patient numbers are marked in the corresponding line if the deviation is relevant.

b. Excluding deaths; common reasons for discontinuation of therapy in the intervention versus control arms: patient wish (7.4% vs. 7.7%), AEs (6.9% vs. 6.3%), investigator's decision (6.6% vs. 6.4%).

c. Excluding deaths; reasons for study dropout in the intervention vs. control arms: loss to follow-up (0.4% vs. 0.2%) or patient wish (0.4% vs. 0.6%).

AE: adverse event; BMI: body mass index; eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate; f: female; HF: heart failure; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; m: male; n: number of patients in the category; N: number of randomized (or included) patients; NT-proBNP: N-terminal pro B type natriuretic peptide; NYHA: New York Heart Association; Q1: 1<sup>st</sup> quartile; Q3: 3<sup>rd</sup> quartile; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SD: standard deviation

Patient characteristics were sufficiently balanced between the treatment arms. Patients had a mean age of 67 years; most were male (77%), and half were from Eastern Europe (33%) or Western Europe (17%). About 59% of patients exhibited mild limitations from the disease (NYHA class II), while about 40% of patients already exhibited moderate limitations (NYHA III). As the most common consequence of the decompensation event, 68% of patients had been hospitalized for HF within the previous 3 months. The high rate of treatment discontinuations (23%) is notable but balanced between treatment arms.

### Implementation of the ACT

The VICTORIA study implemented the ACT only with limitations. The main limitation is that, for a majority of patients, not all therapeutic options might have been exhausted or available.

In the VICTORIA study, all patients were to receive individualized therapy in accordance with locally applicable guidelines (e.g. the ESC guideline). Modifications of HF therapy were possible at any time before and during the study.

The G-BA's notes on the ACT specify that patients in both study arms are assumed to receive optimal treatment. This includes not only a modification of HF therapy, but also guideline-compliant individualized treatment of the underlying medical condition or risk factors such as hypertension, arrhythmia, or diabetes mellitus as well as accompanying symptoms, such as oedema. Regarding the treatment of the underlying medical condition or risk factors, the VICTORIA study specified neither recommendations nor limitations. The information available in the dossier does not clarify to what extent this resulted in optimal patient treatment. In Module 4 A, the company presents only the change in mean glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) over the course of the study for patients with a diabetes mellitus diagnosis at baseline as well as the change in mean systolic blood pressure over the course of the study for patients with

hypertension at baseline. On the basis of the HbA1c levels remaining constant and the recommended systolic blood pressure thresholds not being exceeded by patients with hypertension, the company assumed therapy in the study to be adequate. No further data are available on modifications made for the treatment of these or other underlying medical conditions.

In the study, optimization of standard HF therapy was not ensured for all patients. In Module 4 A, the company clarifies which HF standard therapy patients received at baseline as well as in the course of the study. These data were each aggregated for various time periods. Table 9 shows the data available on HF standard therapy at baseline as well as the proportions of patients for whom treatment was modified during the study.

Table 9: Data on HF therapies – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study	Vericiguat + optimized	Placebo + optimized
Characteristic	standard therapy	standard therapy
Category	$N^{a} = 2158$	$N^{a} = 2158$
VICTORIA		
At baseline		
HF therapies, n (%)	2150 (100)	2154 (100)
ACE inhibitors or ARB or sacubitril/valsartan	1880 (87)	1895 (88)
ACE inhibitors or ARBs	1562 (72)	1578 (73)
Sacubitril/valsartan	330 (15)	330 (15)
Beta-blockers	2008 (93)	2009 (93)
MRAs	1531 (71)	1584 (73)
Device therapies, n (%)		
ICD	644 (30)	654 (30)
Biventricular pacemaker	325 (15)	339 (16)
During the study		
Dose modification of standard therapy or new initiation <sup>b</sup> , n (%)	843 (39)	893 (41)
Dose reduction or discontinuation of standard therapy at one or several visits <sup>c</sup> , n (%)	944 (44)	959 (44)

a. Number of randomized patients. Values that are based on other patient numbers are marked in the corresponding line if the deviation is relevant.

b. Comprises dose increases for one of the drugs included in standard therapy and treatment with a new drug class from the drugs included in standard therapy in comparison with baseline.

c. The most common reason was patient or investigator preference (34.2% vs. 34.8%).

ACE: angiotensin-converting enzyme; ARB: angiotensin receptor blocker; HF: heart failure; ICD: implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; MRA: mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist; n: number of patients with event; N: number of randomized (or included) patients; RCT: randomized controlled trial

The data show that in about 40% of patients in both study arms, the dosage of one of the drugs was increased, or treatment with a new drug class was initiated. However, the company did not

submit any information about the type of modification, e.g. the drug classes to which patients switched or the reasons for performing or foregoing treatment modifications during the study.

Furthermore, it is notable that a relatively high percentage of patients (about 60%) did not receive any treatment modifications over the course of the study.

# Implementation of the recommendations for treatment modifications in case of persistent symptoms

According to the National Disease Management Guideline [16,17] as well as the recently updated ESC guideline [18], patients with symptomatic HF and reduced ejection fraction should be treated with a combination of an ACE inhibitor or ARB, a beta-blocker, and an MRA. For patients who continue to be symptomatic despite guideline-compliant therapy, the National Disease Management Guideline version 3 recommends a switch from ACE inhibitors / ARBs to the ARNI sacubitril/valsartan or add-on SGLT-2 inhibitor treatment [16]. However, due to the current uncertainties regarding the long-term tolerability and side effect profile of sacubitril/valsartan, attention should be paid to contraindications and intolerances [17]. The G-BA refers to this treatment switch to sacubitril/valsartan in its comments on the ACT.

Although the patients of the VICTORIA study had HF classes II to IV and recently experienced a decompensation event, only a small percentage of them, 15%, received sacubitril/valsartan at baseline. In contrast, at study start, 73% of patients were treated with ACE inhibitors / ARB, 93% with beta-blockers, and 72% with MRAs. Over the course of the study, the percentage of patients who received sacubitril/valsartan increased. While at the start of treatment (Days 2 to 21), 16% of patients in both the intervention arm and the comparator arm received sacubitril/valsartan, this percentage increased over the course of treatment to 20% and 21%, respectively (Weeks 17 through 32). By the later treatment (Week 113 through 128), the percentage of patients who received sacubitril/valsartan had changed only slightly, to 19% and 22%, respectively. Module 4 A of the company's dossier lists reasons for patients not receiving sacubitril/valsartan at baseline. In addition to patient or investigator preference (36%), this includes the treatment not being indicated according to treatment guidelines (20%) or being unavailable (19%). These data confirm that not all recommended treatment options were available to all patients.

SGLT-2 inhibitors, which are likewise recommended by guidelines for the VICTORIA patient population, were not available, neither at study start nor over the course of the study, except to patients who were treated with dapagliflozin (0.9%) or empagliflozin (3.5%) as part of their diabetes therapy.

In summary, the treatment options in the VICTORIA study do not fully represent the German standard of care, and the ACT was implemented only to a limited extent. Despite these limitations, the VICTORIA study was used for the benefit assessment. Consequences for the certainty of conclusions of the study are described in Section 2.4.2.

Vericiguat (cardiac failure)

### Duration of treatment and follow-up observation

Table 10 shows the mean/median treatment duration of patients and the mean/median observation period for individual outcomes.

Table 10: Data on the course of the study – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study	Vericiguat + optimized	Placebo + optimized
Duration of the study phase	standard therapy	standard therapy
Outcome category	N = 2158	N = 2158
VICTORIA		
Treatment duration [months] <sup>a</sup>		
Median [Q1; Q3]	11.8 [7.0; 20.0]	11.5 [7.2; 19.8]
Mean (SD)	13.3 (8.6)	13.2 (8.3)
Observation period [months]		
All-cause mortality <sup>b</sup>		
Median [Q1; Q3]	13.8 [8.4; 21.9]	13.4 [8.3; 21.7]
Mean (SD)	15.2 (8.0)	15.0 (7.9)
Hospitalization for HF		
Median [Q1; Q3]	11.0 [6.4; 19.1]	10.2 [5.8; 18.3]
Mean (SD)	12.6 (8.4)	12.0 (8.3)
Myocardial infarction		
Median [Q1; Q3]	13.5 [8.3; 21.6]	13.1 [8.2; 21.5]
Mean (SD)	14.9 (8.1)	14.7 (7.9)
Stroke		
Median [Q1; Q3]	13.6 [8.3; 21.8]	13.2 [8.3; 21.6]
Mean (SD)	15.0 (8.1)	14.8 (7.9)
Health status (EQ-5D VAS) <sup>c</sup>		
Median [Q1; Q3]	10.3 [4.1; 11.3]	10.3 [4.1; 11.3]
Mean (SD)	9.8 (6.6)	9.8 (6.5)
Health-related quality of life – (KCCQ-C) <sup>c</sup>		
Median [Q1; Q3]	10.4 [4.1; 11.3]	10.4 [4.1; 11.3]
Mean (SD)	9.8 (6.6)	9.8 (6.5)
Side effects <sup>a, d</sup>		
Median [Q1; Q3]	11.4 [6.7; 19.7]	11.3 [6.8; 19.5]
Mean (SD)	13.1 (8.4)	12.9 (8.1)

a. These figures refer to the study's safety population (2152 vs. 2151 patients).

b. The observation duration is calculated based on the observed period up to death, last available information on the outcome, or, if no event was observed, the data-cut off date.

c. Data are based on the safety population with at least one questionnaire survey (EQ-5D VAS: 2115 vs. 2117 patients; KCCQ: 2115 vs. 2119 patients).

d. The observation duration for side effects is defined as the time from the first dose until 14 days after treatment end, until death, or until the data cut-off date.

KCCQ: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire; N: number of analysed patients; ND: no data; Q1: first quartile; Q3: third quartile; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SD: standard deviation; VAS: visual analogue scale

Extract of dossier assessment A21-120	Version 1.0
Vericiguat (cardiac failure)	13 December 2021

Treatment duration was comparable between the two study arms. The observation periods for the individual outcome categories or outcomes were also comparable between both study arms.

#### Risk of bias across outcomes (study level)

Table 11 shows the risk of bias across outcomes (risk of bias at study level).

Table 11: Risk of bias across outcomes (study level) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study		Ħ	Blin	ding	t		
	Adequate random sequence generation	Allocation concealme	Patients	Treating staff	Reporting independe of the results	No additional aspects	Risk of bias at study level
VICTORIA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low
RCT: randomize	ed controlled to	rial					

The study-level risk of bias for the VICTORIA study was rated as low.

#### Transferability to the German health care context

For presenting the transferability of the results of the VICTORIA study to the German healthcare context, the company compares characteristics of the VICTORIA study population with the patient characteristics from publications on various cohort and registry studies [19-23]. According to the company, patient characteristics are similar, taking into account the decompensation event or treatment intensification. Furthermore, all described factors (age, sex, body mass index, NT-proBNP) were reportedly examined for impact in subgroup analyses, which showed no effect modifications relevant for the conclusion. Furthermore, the company reports that the optimized standard therapy was in line with the recommendations by German guidelines [17],had been modifiable at any time, and led to no relevant limitations. Overall, the company believes that the study population largely reflects the actual situation in German healthcare and that the study results can be extrapolated to the German healthcare context.

The company did not provide any further information on the transferability of the study results to the German health care context.

### 2.4 Results on added benefit

### 2.4.1 Outcomes included

The following patient-relevant outcomes were to be considered in the assessment:

Mortality

- All-cause mortality
- Morbidity
  - Hospitalization for HF
  - □ MI
  - Stroke
  - Health status, surveyed using the EQ-5D VAS
- Health-related quality of life
  - KCCQ OSS
- Side effects
  - □ SAEs
  - Discontinuation due to AEs
  - Hypotension (preferred term [PT], SAEs)
  - Further specific AEs, if any

The choice of patient-relevant outcomes deviates from the selection by the company, which used further outcomes in the dossier (Module 4 A).

Table 12 shows for which outcomes data were available in the included study.

Table 12: Matrix of outcomes – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy



a. No data available as to whether disease-related events were included in the total rate.

b. The following events (MedDRA coding) were considered: blood and lymphatic system disorders (SOC, SAEs) and atrial fibrillation (PT, AEs).

AE: adverse event; KCCQ: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire; MedDRA: Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities; OSS: overall summary score; PT: preferred term; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SAE: serious adverse event; SOC: system organ class; VAS: visual analogue scale

- Primary composite outcome: In its present operationalization, the primary composite outcome on cardiovascular morbidity was not used for the benefit assessment. The composite outcome comprises the components of cardiovascular mortality and hospitalization for HF. This operationalization represents cardiovascular morbidity only to a limited extent, Firstly, nonfatal MIs and strokes are not covered by this outcome, despite the fact that these events represent relevant components of cardiovascular morbidity. Secondly, fatal MIs and strokes are covered by cardiovascular mortality. Therefore, the primary composite outcome on cardiovascular morbidity was excluded from the benefit assessment.
- MI and stroke: The VICTORIA study operationalizes these outcomes as hospitalization for MI and hospitalization for stroke. This is generally not appropriate because in order to reflect all relevant components, outcomes on MIs and strokes should include all fatal and nonfatal events. The employed operationalization of hospitalization comprises only nonfatal events. However, the data submitted in Module 4 A show that in the vericiguat arm, all patients with fatal MIs and strokes had been previously hospitalized. In the comparator arm, there is a minor, irrelevant deviation in patients who died of MI or stroke without prior hospitalization. In this particular constellation, fatal events have already been included in the outcome due to the prior hospitalization, and the submitted operationalization adequately represents the outcomes of MI and stroke and can be used for the benefit assessment.
- Health status (EQ-5D VAS) and health-related quality of life (KCCQ OSS):

For the health status outcomes (surveyed via EQ-5D VAS) and health-related quality of life (surveyed via KCCQ-OSS), the company submitted responder analyses, using the following response criteria:

- EQ-5D VAS: improvement and deterioration of the baseline value by ≥ 7 or ≥ 10 points at Week 32 (scale range of EQ-5D VAS: 0 to 100 points)
- KCCQ OSS: improvement and deterioration of the baseline value by ≥ 5 points at Week 32 (scale range of KCCQ OSS: 0 to 100 points)
- As supplementary analyses (EQ-5D VAS, KCCQ-OSS): improvement and deterioration by 15 points of the scale range at Week 32

Given the course of disease to be expected in the present therapeutic indication and the distribution of absolute values of the scales at baseline, it is the analysis of the improvement of health status which is of primary relevance for the present benefit assessment.

As explained in the IQWiG General Methods [1,24], for a response criterion to reflect with sufficient certainty a change noticeable for the patient, it should correspond to a predefined value of at least 15% of the scale range of an instrument (in post hoc analyses, exactly 15% of the scale range). To derive added benefit, therefore, the supplementary analyses performed by the company on improvement by  $\geq$  15 points each (exactly 15% of the scale range) at Week 32 were used. The analyses of improvement of EQ-5D VAS by  $\geq$  7 or  $\geq$  10 points and KCCQ-OSS by  $\geq$  5 points are presented as supplementary information in Appendix D of the full dossier assessment.

### 2.4.2 Risk of bias

Table 13 shows the risk of bias for the results of the relevant outcomes.

Table 13: Risk of bias at study level and outcome-specific risk of bias – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

Study						Out	comes				
	Study level	All-cause mortality	Hospitalization for HF	Ш	Stroke	Health status (EQ-5D VAS)	Health-related quality of life (KCCQ OSS)	SAEs <sup>a</sup>	Discontinuation due to AEs <sup>a</sup>	Hypotension (PT, SAEs) <sup>a</sup>	Further specific AEs <sup>b</sup>
VICTORIA	L	L	L	L	L	Hc	Hc	$\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{d}}$	L	$\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{d}}$	$\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{d}}$

a. It is unclear whether disease-related events were included in the total rate.

b. The following events (MedDRA coding) were considered: blood and lymphatic system disorders (SOC, SAEs) and atrial fibrillation (PT, AEs).

c. High percentage of LOCF-replaced values (EQ-5D VAS: 18% vs. 19%, KCCQ-OSS: 21% vs. 22%); furthermore, a high percentage of patients (> 10%) were excluded from the analysis.

d. Incomplete observations for potentially informative reasons.

AE: adverse event; H: high; KCCQ: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire; L: low; LOCF: last observation carried forward; MedDRA: Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities; OSS: overall summary score; PT: preferred term; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SAE: serious adverse event; SOC: system organ class; VAS: visual analogue scale

The risk of bias is rated as low, except for the following outcomes: The risk of bias of the results on the outcomes of health status (as measured using EQ-5D VAS) and health-related quality of life (surveyed using KCCQ-OSS) is deemed high due to the high percentage of values replaced by last observation carried forward (LOCF) and additionally the high percentage (> 10%) of patients disregarded in the analysis. Furthermore, the risk of bias of the results on SAEs, hypotension (SAEs), and further specific AEs is deemed high due to incomplete follow-up duration, which ended 14 days after treatment discontinuation as well as the high number of treatment discontinuations (23% versus 23%).

### Overall assessment of the certainty of conclusions

In the present benefit assessment, only indications, e.g. of an added benefit, can initially be derived on the basis of the individual VICTORIA study. However, various aspects further limit the certainty of conclusions of the present VICTORIA study for the benefit assessment.

Firstly, the percentage of patients who had not been clinically stabilized at baseline is unclear. Secondly, it is safe to assume in the present benefit assessment that the VICTORIA study implemented the ACT of optimized standard therapy for HF only to a limited extent. This was concluded, for one thing, because relevant therapy options such as sacubitril/valsartan or SGLT-2 inhibitors were available only to a limited extent or not at all. In addition, it is notable that relatively few patients received a modification of their pharmacological HF therapy during the study.

Particularly due to these limitations, overall, at most hints, e.g. of an added benefit, can be determined for all outcomes. Further, it is unclear to what extent the potentially insufficient percentage of patients who switched to sacubitril/valsartan therapy or the lack of administration of SGLT-2 inhibitors impacted the effects on patient-relevant outcomes in the VICTORIA study. Therefore, the effects on the individual outcomes cannot be quantified.

This deviates from the assessment by the company, which derived proof of minor added benefit of vericiguat versus optimized standard therapy for patients with symptomatic chronic HF with reduced ejection fraction. The company justifies the derivation of proof by stating that the VICTORIA study fulfils the requirements for the derivation of proof based on 1 study which are described in the General Methods, Version 6.0 [1]. The derivation of proof on the basis of 1 study is subject to certain conditions and is possible only in exceptional cases [1]: For example, the present study must be multicentric, with  $\geq 10$  study centres and at least 1000 patients in each study arm. The p-values for the observed effect estimates must be very small (< 0.001). Moreover, the results must be consistent within the study. Thus, the analysis of relevant subpopulations must each yield assessable and sufficiently homogeneous effect estimates. The analyses for subpopulations must be available for all relevant outcomes. However, the p-values for the observed effect estimators are > 0.001 in all outcomes of the VICTORIA study; therefore, this criterion was not met, and no proof can be derived.

In summary, based on this single study, at most hints, e.g. of an added benefit, can therefore be derived for all outcomes due to the uncertainties described, particularly with regard to the implementation of the ACT.

# 2.4.3 Results

Table 14 and Table 15 summarize the results on the comparison of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus placebo + optimized standard therapy for symptomatic chronic HF in patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy. Where necessary, calculations conducted by IQWiG are provided in addition to the data from the company's dossier.

The Kaplan-Meier curves on the included outcomes are presented in Appendix B of the full dossier assessment, and the results on common AEs, SAEs, and discontinuation due to AEs are presented in Appendix C of the full dossier assessment. Supplementary responder analyses on

Extract of dossier assessment A21-120	Version 1.0
Vericiguat (cardiac failure)	13 December 2021

the outcomes of of EQ-5D VAS (improvement by  $\ge 7$  or  $\ge 10$  points) and KCCQ-OSS (improvement by  $\ge 5$  points) are presented in Appendix D of the full dossier assessment.

Table 14: Results (mortality, morbidity, time to event) - RCT, direct comparison: vericigua	ιt
+ optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy	

Vericiguat Placebo + optimized standard + optimized standard therapy therapy		Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy		
N	Median time to event in months [95% CI]	N	Median time to event in months [95% CI]	HR [95% CI]; p-value <sup>a</sup>
	Patients with event n (%)		Patients with event n (%)	
2158	NA 443 (20.5)	2158	NA 464 (21.5)	0.94 [0.83; 1.07]; 0.363
2158	NA 358 (16.6)	2158	NA 384 (17.8)	0.92 [0.80; 1.06]; 0.256
2158	NA 602 (27.9)	2158	NA 659 (30.5)	0.88 [0.79; 0.99]; 0.029
2158	Number of events 1049	2158	Number of events 1203	$0.86 \ [0.79; 0.95]; \ 0.001^b$
2158	NA 39 (1.8)	2158	NA 37 (1.7)	1.04 [0.66; 1.63]; 0.863
2158	NA 32 (1.5)	2158	NA 31 (1.4)	1.02 [0.62; 1.68]; 0.930
	+ op N 2158 2158 2158 2158 2158 2158 2158	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapyNMedian time to event in months [95% CI] Patients with event n (%)2158NA 443 (20.5)2158NA 358 (16.6)2158NA 602 (27.9)2158NA 602 (27.9)2158NA 30 (1.8)2158NA 32 (1.5)	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy         + op           N         Median time to event in months [95% CI]         N           Patients with event n (%)         2158           2158         NA 443 (20.5)         2158           2158         NA 358 (16.6)         2158           2158         NA 602 (27.9)         2158           2158         NA 1049         2158           2158         NA 2158         2158           39 (1.8)         2158           32 (1.5)         2158	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapyPlacebo + optimized standard therapyNMedian time to event in months [95% CI] Patients with event n (%)NMedian time to event in months [95% CI] Patients with event n (%)2158NA 443 (20.5)2158NA 464 (21.5)2158NA 358 (16.6)2158NA 384 (17.8)2158NA 602 (27.9)2158NA 659 (30.5)2158NA 39 (1.8)2158NA 37 (1.7)2158NA 32 (1.5)2158NA 31 (1.4)

a. Unless otherwise indicated, HR [95% CI] based on Cox regression model with treatment as a covariable, stratified by region and ancestry; p-value based on two-sided logrank test stratified by region and ancestry.
b. HR [95% CI] and p-value calculated using Andersen-Gill model, adjusted by region and ancestry; robust

estimate of standard error for taking into account multiple HF-related hospitalizations of the same patient.

CI: confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio; n: number of patients with (at least 1) event; N: number of analysed patients; NA: not achieved; RCT: randomized controlled trial

Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG)

xtract of dossier assessment A21-120	

Vericiguat (cardiac failure)

E

Table 15: Results (morbidity, health-related quality of life, and side effects, dichotomous) -
RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized
standard therapy

Study Outcome category Outcome	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy		Placebo + optimized standard therapy		Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy
	N <sup>a</sup>	Patients with event n (%)	N <sup>a</sup>	Patients with event n (%)	RR [95% CI]; p-value <sup>b</sup>
VICTORIA					
Morbidity					
Improvement $\geq 15 \text{ points}^{c}$					
Health status (EQ-5D VAS)	1753	483 (27.6)	1739	460 (26.5)	1.04 [0.93; 1.16]; 0.457
Health-related quality of life					
Improvement $\geq 15 \text{ points}^{\circ}$					
KCCQ OSS	1655	558 (33.7)	1628	563 (34.6)	0.98 [0.89; 1.07]; 0.606
Physical limitation	1726	588 (34.1)	1718	576 (33.5)	1.02 [0.93; 1.12]
Symptoms (KCCQ-TSS)	1760	581 (33.0)	1751	613 (35.0)	0.94 [0.86; 1.03]
Social limitation	1669	656 (39.3)	1642	610 (37.1)	1.06 [0.97; 1.15]
Psychological quality of life	1760	755 (42.9)	1751	738 (42.1)	1.02 [0.94; 1.10]
Side effects					
AEs (supplementary information) <sup>d</sup>	2152	1726 (80.2)	2151	1741 (80.9)	_
$SAEs^d$	2152	702 (32.6)	2151	743 (34.5)	0.94 [0.87; 1.03]; 0.182 <sup>e</sup>
Discontinuation due to AEs <sup>d</sup>	2152	139 (6.5)	2151	134 (6.2)	1.04 [0.82; 1.30]; 0.758 <sup>e</sup>
Hypotension (PT, SAEs) <sup>d</sup>	2152	31 (1.4)	2151	38 (1.8)	$0.82$ [0.51; 1.31]; $0.530^{f}$
Blood and lymphatic system disorders (SOC, SAEs)	2152	39 (1.8)	2151	20 (0.9)	1.92 [1.15; 3.21]; 0.013 <sup>f</sup>
Atrial fibrillation (SAEs) <sup>d</sup>	2152	9 (0.4)	2151	26 (1.2)	$0.38$ [0.19; 0.73]; $0.004^{\rm f}$

a. Outcomes of the categories of morbidity and health-related quality of life: missing values were replaced using LOCF.

b. Unless otherwise indicated: RR [95% CI] according to Mantel-Haenszel method, stratified by region and ancestry; p-value of RR two-sided based on Wald test.

c. Percentage of patients with an increase by  $\geq 15$  points from baseline at Week 32, given a scale range of 0 to 100. Higher (increasing) values indicate an improvement of health-related quality of life / symptoms.

d. No data available as to whether disease-related events are included in the total rate; no distinction between side effects of the intervention and symptoms of the underlying medical condition.

e. RR [95% CI] based on log-binomial regression model with Wald CI; p-value two-sided based on Wald test. f. RR [95% CI] based on log-binomial regression model with Wald CI. If the event rate in  $\geq$  1 group is  $\leq$  1%:

Peto OR as estimator for the relative risk; p-value: IQWiG calculation, unconditional exact test (CSZ method according to [25]).

AE: adverse event; CI: confidence interval; KCCQ: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire; LOCF: last observation carried forward; n: number of patients with (at least 1) event; N: number of analysed patients; OSS: overall summary score; PT: preferred term; RCT: randomized controlled trial; RR: relative risk; SAE: serious adverse event; SOC: system organ class; TSS: total symptom score; VAS: visual analogue scale

Based on the available data, at most hints, e.g. of an added benefit, can be determined for all outcomes due to the above limitations in the implementation of the ACT (see Sections 2.3.2 and 2.4.2).

# Mortality

The outcome of all-cause mortality represents mortality irrespective of the cause of death, thus providing a more comprehensive picture than the outcome of cardiovascular death. Hence, the outcome of all-cause mortality was used for the derivation of added benefit.

# All-cause mortality

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of all-cause mortality. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Morbidity

# Hospitalization for HF

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups in favour of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of hospitalization for HF. However, there was a statistically significant interaction for the attribute of age. This results in a hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with placebo + optimized standard therapy for patients < 75 years of age. For patients  $\geq$  75 years of age, there is no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven (see Section 2.4.4).

### MI

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of MI. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

### Stroke

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of stroke. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Health status

# EQ-5D VAS

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of health status, surveyed with the EQ-5D VAS. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Health-related quality of life

# KCCQ OSS

For the outcome of health-related quality of life as measured using KCCQ-OSS, no statistically significant difference between treatment groups was found. This results in no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

# Side effects

# SAEs

For the outcome of SAEs, no statistically significant difference between treatment groups was found. This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Discontinuation due to AEs

There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the outcome of discontinuation due to AEs. This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Hypotension (SAEs)

No statistically significant difference between treatment groups was shown for the outcome of hypotension (SAEs). This resulted in no hint of greater or lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus optimized standard therapy; greater or lesser harm is therefore not proven.

# Specific AEs

# Blood and lymphatic system disorders (SAEs)

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups to the disadvantage of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of disorders of the blood and lymphatic system (SAEs). This resulted in a hint of greater harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy.

# Atrial fibrillation (SAEs)

A statistically significant difference between treatment groups in favour of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the outcome of atrial fibrillation (SAEs). This results in a hint of lesser harm from vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy. Since the study is placebo controlled, it is unclear whether the effects observed in the outcome of atrial fibrillation (SAEs) actually represent side effects or rather manifestations of disease-related morbidity.

# 2.4.4 Subgroups and other effect modifiers

The following subgroup characteristics were relevant for the present benefit assessment:

- age (< 75 years versus  $\geq$  75 years)
- sex (male versus female)
- severity of heart failure (NYHA classes I/II vs. III/IV)

The corresponding subgroup analyses had been predefined for the primary outcome (cardiovascular death and hospitalization for HF) and its individual components. However, the company presented post hoc subgroup analyses on the above-mentioned attributes for all analysed outcomes.

For the attribute of age, an age limit of 75 years was used since HF is a disease of advanced age and because more advanced age – one of several demographic characteristics – is among the prognostic factors associated with an unfavourable course [16].

Interaction tests were performed when at least 10 patients per subgroup were included in the analysis. Moreover, for binary data, there have to be at least 10 events in at least 1 subgroup.

Only results showing an effect modification with a statistically significant interaction between treatment and subgroup characteristic (p-value < 0.05) are presented. In addition, subgroup results are presented only if there is a statistically significant and relevant effect in at least 1 subgroup.

Table 16 summarizes the subgroup results for the comparison of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy versus placebo + optimized standard therapy for symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy.

Kaplan-Meier curves on the presented time-to-event analyses can be found in Appendix B of the full dossier assessment.

Vericiguat (cardiac failure)

Study Outcome Characteristic Subgroup	Vericiguat + optimiz standard therapy		Placebo + optimized standard therapy		Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy	
Subgroup	N	Median time to event in months [95 % CI] Patients with event n (%)	N	Median time to event in months [95 % CI] Patients with event n (%)	HR [95% CI] <sup>a</sup>	p-value <sup>b</sup>
VICTORIA						
Hospitalization for HF						
Age						
< 75 years	1523	NA 393 (25.8)	1538	NA 470 (30.6)	0.81 [0.71; 0.92]	0.002
$\geq$ 75 years	635	NA 209 (32.9)	620	NA 189 (30.5)	1.08 [0.89; 1.31]	0.477
Total					Interaction:	0.017°

Table 16: Subgroups (morbidity) – RCT, direct comparison: vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy

a. HR [95% CI] based on Cox regression model with the covariables of treatment, region, ancestry, subgroup, and interaction between treatment and subgroup.

b. Unless otherwise indicated: p-value based on two-sided logrank test stratified by region and ancestry.c. p-value of the likelihood ratio test of interaction between treatment and subgroup.

CI: confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio; n: number of patients with (at least 1) event; N: number of analysed patients; NA: not achieved; RCT: randomized controlled trial

### Morbidity

### Hospitalization for HF

For the outcome of hospitalization for HF, there was a statistically significant interaction for the attribute of age.

A statistically significant difference in favour of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy was shown for the age group < 75 years. For this outcome, this resulted in a hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy for patients < 75 years of age. There was no statistically significant difference between treatment groups for the age group  $\geq$  75 years. Consequently, there is no hint of added benefit of vericiguat + optimized standard therapy in comparison with the ACT; an added benefit is therefore not proven.

### 2.5 Probability and extent of added benefit

Probability and extent of the added benefit at outcome level are derived below, taking into account the different outcome categories and effect sizes. The methods used for this purpose are explained in the IQWiG General Methods [1].

The approach for deriving an overall conclusion on the added benefit based on the aggregation of conclusions derived at outcome level is a proposal by IQWiG. The G-BA decides on the added benefit.

### 2.5.1 Assessment of the added benefit at outcome level

The extent of the respective added benefit at outcome level was estimated from the results presented in Section 2.4 (see Table 17).

### Determination of the outcome category for the outcomes on morbidity

It was not possible to glean from the dossier whether the following outcome is serious/severe or non-serious/non-severe. The classification for this outcome is justified.

### Hospitalization for HF

Events that are fatal or require inpatient treatment are considered severe or serious. Therefore, the outcome of hospitalization for HF was assigned to the outcome category of serious/severe symptoms / late complications.

Extract of dossier assessment A21-120	Version 1.0
Vericiguat (cardiac failure)	13 December 2021

Table 17: Extent of added benefit at outcome level: dapagliflozin + optimized standard
therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy (multipage table)

Outcome category Outcome Effect modifier Subgroup	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy Median time to event (months) or proportion of events (%) Effect estimation [95% CI]; p-value Probability <sup>a</sup>	Derivation of extent <sup>b</sup>
Mortality	-	-
All-cause mortality	Median: NA vs. NA HR: 0.94 [0.83; 1.07] p = 0.363	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
Morbidity	-	-
Hospitalization for HF		
Age < 75 years	Median: NA vs. NA HR: 0.81 [0.71; 0.92] p = 0.002 Probability: "hint"	Outcome category: serious/severe symptoms/late complications Added benefit, extent: "non-quantifiable"
$\geq$ 75 years	Median: NA vs. NA HR: 1.08 [0.89; 1.31] p = 0.477	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
MI	Median: NA vs. NA HR: 1.04 [0.66; 1.63] p = 0.863	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
Stroke	Median: NA vs. NA HR: 1.02 [0.62; 1.68] p = 0.930	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
Health status (EQ-5D VAS; improvement $\geq 15$ points)	27.6 % vs. 26.5 % RR: 1.04 [0.93; 1.16] p = 0.457	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
Health-related quality of l	ife	
KCCQ-OSS; improvement by $\geq 15$ points	33.7% vs. 34.6% RR: 0.98 [0.89; 1.07] p = 0.606	Lesser benefit/added benefit not proven
Side effects		
SAEs	32.6% vs. 34.5% RR: 0.94 [0.87; 1.03] p = 0.182	Greater/lesser harm not proven
Discontinuation due to AEs	6.5% vs. 6.2% RR: 1.04 [0.82; 1.30] p = 0.758	Greater/lesser harm not proven

Outcome category Outcome Effect modifier Subgroup	Vericiguat + optimized standard therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy Median time to event (months) or proportion of events (%) Effect estimation [95% CI]; p-value Probability <sup>a</sup>	Derivation of extent <sup>b</sup>
Hypotension (SAEs)	1.4% vs. 1.8% RR: 0.82 [0.51; 1.31] p = 0.530	Greater/lesser harm not proven
Blood and lymphatic system disorders (SAEs)	1.8% vs. 0.9% RR: 1.92 [1.15; 3.21] RR: 0.52 [0.31; 0.87] <sup>c</sup> p = 0.013 Probability: "hint"	Outcome category: serious/severe side effects greater harm, extent: "non-quantifiable"
Atrial fibrillation (SAEs)	0.4% vs. 1.2% RR: 0.38 [0.19; 0.73] p = 0.004 Probability: "hint"	Outcome category: serious/severe side effects Lesser harm, extent: "non-quantifiable"

Table 17: Extent of added benefit at outcome level: dapagliflozin + optimized standar
therapy vs. placebo + optimized standard therapy (multipage table)

a. Probability provided if there is a statistically significant and relevant effect.

b. Depending on the outcome category, estimations of effect size are made with different limits based on the upper limit of the confidence interval (CI<sub>u</sub>).

c. IQWiG calculation; reversed direction of effect to enable use of limits to derive the extent of the added benefit.

AE: adverse event; CI: confidence interval; CI<sub>u</sub>: upper limit of CI; HR: hazard ratio; KCCQ: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire; NA: not achieved; OSS: overall summary score; RR: relative risk; SAE: serious adverse event; VAS: visual analogue scale

### 2.5.2 Overall conclusion on added benefit

Table 18 summarizes the results considered in the overall conclusion on the extent of added benefit.

Table 18: Favourable and unfavourable effects from the assessment of vericiguat + optimized
standard therapy in comparison with optimized standard therapy

Favourable effects	Unfavourable effects
Morbidity	_
Serious/severe symptoms / late complications	
<ul> <li>Hospitalization for HF</li> </ul>	
$\sim$ < 75 years	
hint of an added benefit, extent: non-quantifiable	
Serious/severe side effects	Serious/severe side effects
<ul> <li>Atrial fibrillation (SAEs):</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Blood and lymphatic system disorders (SAEs): hint</li> </ul>
hint of lesser harm – extent: non-quantifiable	of greater harm – extent: non-quantifiable
HF: heart failure; SAE: serious adverse event	

Overall, concerning favourable effects, a hint of non-quantifiable added benefit of vericiguat in the outcome category of serious/severe symptoms / late complications was found only for patients < 75 years of age. In the outcome category of serious/severe side effects, there is both a favourable and an unfavourable effect. However, it is questionable whether the favourable effect regarding the outcome of atrial fibrillation is to be allocated to the outcome category of side effects or whether it rather reflects the symptoms of the disease. A clear demarcation is not possible on the basis of the available information.

In summary, for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients < 75 years of age with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy, there is a hint of non-quantifiable added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with optimized standard therapy. For the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients  $\geq$  75 years of age with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy, there is no hint of added benefit of vericiguat; added benefit is therefore not proven.

Table 19 summarizes the result of the assessment of added benefit of vericiguat in comparison with the ACT.

Therapeutic indication	ACT <sup>a</sup>	Probability and extent of added benefit		
Symptomatic chronic HF in adult patients with reduced ejection fraction who are stabilized after a recent decompensation event requiring IV therapy	Optimized standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic chronic HF and underlying medical conditions, e.g. hypertension, cardiac arrhythmia, coronary heart disease, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolaemia and the concomitant symptoms	<ul> <li>Age &lt; 75 years: hint of a non-quantifiable added benefit.</li> <li>Age ≥ 75 years: added benefit not proven.</li> </ul>		
a. Presentation of the respective ACT specified by the G-BA.				
ACT: appropriate comparator therapy; G-BA: Federal Joint Committee; HF: heart failure; IV: intravenous				

Table 19: Vericiguat – probability and extent of added benefit

Extract of dossier assessment A21-120	Version 1.0
Vericiguat (cardiac failure)	13 December 2021

The assessment described above deviates from that of the company, which derived proof of minor added benefit.

The approach for the derivation of an overall conclusion on the added benefit is a proposal by IQWiG. The G-BA decides on the added benefit.

# **References for English extract**

Please see full dossier assessment for full reference list.

The reference list contains citations provided by the company in which bibliographical information may be missing.

1. Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care. General Methods; Version 6.0 [online]. 2020 [Accessed: 22.03.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.iqwig.de/methoden/general-methods\_version-6-0.pdf</u>.

2. Skipka G, Wieseler B, Kaiser T et al. Methodological approach to determine minor, considerable, and major treatment effects in the early benefit assessment of new drugs. Biom J 2016; 58(1): 43-58. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bimj.201300274</u>.

3. Merck, Sharp & Dohme. A Randomized Parallel-Group, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Event-Driven, Multi-Center Pivotal Phase III Clinical Outcome Trial of Efficacy and Safety of the Oral sGC Stimulator Vericiguat in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) - VerICiguat GlObal Study in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced EjectIon FrAction (VICTORIA); Clinical Study Report [unpublished]. 2020.

4. Merck, Sharp & Dohme. A Randomized Parallel-Group, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Event-Driven, Multi-Center Pivotal Phase III Clinical Outcome Trial of Efficacy and Safety of the Oral sGC Stimulator Vericiguat in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) - VerICiguat GlObal Study in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced EjectIon FrAction (VICTORIA); Zusätzliche Analysen [unpublished]. 2021.

5. Merck, Sharp & Dohme. A Study of Vericiguat in Participants With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) (MK-1242-001) [online]. 2020 [Accessed: 15.10.2021]. URL: <u>https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT02861534</u>.

6. Merck, Sharp & Dohme. A Randomized Parallel-Group, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Event-Driven, Multi- Center Pivotal Phase III Clinical Outcome Trial of Efficacy and Safety of the Oral sGC Stimulator Vericiguat in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) - VerICiguaT Global Study in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (VICTORIA) [online]. [Accessed: 15.10.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/search?query=eudract\_number:2016-000671-</u> <u>25</u>.

7. Merck, Sharp & Dohme. A Randomized Parallel-Group, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Event-Driven, Multi- Center Pivotal Phase III Clinical Outcome Trial of Efficacy and Safety of the Oral sGC Stimulator Vericiguat in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) - VerICiguaT Global Study in Subjects With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (VICTORIA) [online]. [Accessed: 15.10.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.ins.gob.pe/ensayosclinicos/rpec/recuperarECPBNuevoEN.asp?numec=031-17</u>. 8. Alsumali A, Lautsch D, Liu R et al. Budget Impact Analysis of Vericiguat for the Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction Following a Worsening Event. Adv Ther 2021; 38(5): 2631-2643. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12325-021-01681-2</u>.

9. Armstrong PW, Pieske B, Anstrom KJ et al. Vericiguat in Patients with Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med 2020; 382(20): 1883-1893. https://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1915928.

10. Ezekowitz JA, O'Connor CM, Troughton RW et al. N-Terminal Pro-B-Type Natriuretic Peptide and Clinical Outcomes: Vericiguat Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction Study. JACC Heart Fail 2020; 8(11): 931-939. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2020.08.008</u>.

11. Lam CSP, Giczewska A, Sliwa K et al. Clinical Outcomes and Response to Vericiguat According to Index Heart Failure Event: Insights From the VICTORIA Trial. JAMA Cardiol 2021; 6(6): 706-712. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2020.6455</u>.

12. Pieske B, Patel MJ, Westerhout CM et al. Baseline features of the VICTORIA (Vericiguat Global Study in Subjects with Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction) trial. Eur J Heart Fail 2019; 21(12): 1596-1604. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1664</u>.

13. Voors AA, Mulder H, Reyes E et al. Renal function and the effects of vericiguat in patients with worsening heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: insights from the VICTORIA (Vericiguat Global Study in Subjects with HFrEF) trial. Eur J Heart Fail 2021; 23(8): 1313-1321. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.2221</u>.

14. Bayer. Verquvo [online]. 2021 [Accessed: 28.10.2021]. URL: https://www.fachinfo.de/.

15. European Medicines Agency. Verquvo; Assessment report [online]. 2021 [Accessed: 28.10.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/assessment-report/verquvo-epar-public-assessment-report\_en.pdf</u>.

16. Bundesärztekammer, Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung, Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften. Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Chronische Herzinsuffizienz; Langfassung; Version 3 [online]. 2021 [Accessed: 24.09.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.leitlinien.de/themen/herzinsuffizienz/pdf/herzinsuffizienz-3aufl-vers3.pdf</u>.

17. Bundesärztekammer, Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung, Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften. Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Chronische Herzinsuffizienz; Langfassung; Version 2 [online]. 2019 [Accessed: 16.09.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.leitlinien.de/themen/herzinsuffizienz/archiv/pdf/herzinsuffizienz-3aufl-vers2-lang.pdf</u>.

18. McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2021; 42(36): 3599-3726. https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368. 19. Angermann CE, Stork S, Gelbrich G et al. Mode of action and effects of standardized collaborative disease management on mortality and morbidity in patients with systolic heart failure: the Interdisciplinary Network for Heart Failure (INH) study. Circ Heart Fail 2012; 5(1): 25-35. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.111.962969</u>.

20. Störk S, Hense HW, Zentgraf C et al. Pharmacotherapy according to treatment guidelines is associated with lower mortality in a community-based sample of patients with chronic heart failure: a prospective cohort study. Eur J Heart Fail 2008; 10(12): 1236-1245. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejheart.2008.09.008.

21. von Scheidt W, Zugck C, Pauschinger M et al. Characteristics, management modalities and outcome in chronic systolic heart failure patients treated in tertiary care centers: results from the EVIdence based TreAtment in Heart Failure (EVITA-HF) registry. Clin Res Cardiol 2014; 103(12): 1006-1014. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00392-014-0743-x</u>.

22. Schwarzl M, Ojeda F, Zeller T et al. Risk factors for heart failure are associated with alterations of the LV end-diastolic pressure-volume relationship in non-heart failure individuals: data from a large-scale, population-based cohort. Eur Heart J 2016; 37(23): 1807-1814. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw120</u>.

23. Kapelios CJ, Laroche C, Crespo-Leiro MG et al. Association between loop diuretic dose changes and outcomes in chronic heart failure: observations from the ESC-EORP Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. Eur J Heart Fail 2020; 22(8): 1424-1437. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1796.

24. Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen. Dokumentation und Würdigung der Anhörung zum Entwurf der Allgemeinen Methoden 6.0 [online]. 2020 [Accessed: 27.01.2021]. URL: <u>https://www.iqwig.de/methoden/allgemeine-methoden\_dwa-entwurf-fuer-version-6-0\_v1-0.pdf</u>.

25. Martín Andrés A, Silva Mato A. Choosing the optimal unconditioned test for comparing two independent proportions. Computat Stat Data Anal 1994; 17(5): 555-574. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0167-9473(94)90148-1.

*The full report (German version) is published under* <u>https://www.iqwig.de/en/projects/a21-120.html</u>.